FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/21/2024 1:14 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1035632

No._____

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

APPEAL FROM Court of Appeals Division III No. 393151 Re: Ferry County Superior Court No. 20-1-00020-10

> STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent/Plaintiff,

> > v.

JOHN HENRY SLIGER, Petitioner/Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BEVAN J. MAXEY, WSBA # 13827 MAXEY LAW OFFICES, PLLC Attorneys for Petitioner 1835 West Broadway Spokane, Washington 99201 Phone: 509.326.0338

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John Henry Sliger asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is in the Appendix (APP) at pages A1-12. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration of that decision at APP B-1.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Did the appellate court err by finding that the statutory prima facie evidence standard for admitting the results of a Draegar breath alcohol test, which requires that "[t]he person being tested did not have any foreign substances ... in his ... mouth at the beginning of the fifteen-minute observation period" has been met when, despite the test-taker's denial of foreign material in his mouth, the officer administering the test

personally observed tobacco in the defendant's mouth and expressly identifies it as a foreign substance?

2. Did the appellate court err in finding that the statutory prima facie evidence standard for admitting the results of a Draegar breath alcohol test, which requires that "[t]he person being tested did not have any foreign substances ... in his ... mouth at the beginning of the fifteen-minute observation period" has been met when the agency regulation instructs the officer administering the test that "[a] determination as to whether a subject has a foreign substance in his ... mouth will be made by either an examination of the mouth or a denial by the person that he ... has any foreign substances in their mouth" and the test-taker denies having a foreign substance in his mouth, despite the actual presence of what the officer administering the test observes as the presence of what he expressly identifies as a foreign substance?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 26, 2020, Mr. Sliger was involved in a side-byside versus dirt bike collision on Lake Ellen Road in Ferry County, Washington.¹ Later, his friend, the other party involved in the collision, ultimately succumbed to his injuries. Mr. Sliger agreed to take a field sobriety test, which included a portable breath test. Prior to taking the breath test, Mr. Sliger had chewing tobacco in his mouth but complied with the deputy's instruction to spit it out at the scene prior to taking the portable breath test. Deputy Kahns arrested Mr. Sliger and transported him to the Stevens County Jail.

At the jail, Mr. Sliger agreed to provide a Draeger breath test. Contemporaneous with the Draeger test, Deputy Kahns documented his observations in his Washington State DUI Arrest Report as illustrated by the image below. CP at 35.

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, the facts are distilled from the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, CP 90-94, as well as the record from the Court of Appeals.

DO YOU HAVE ANY FOREIGN SUBSTAINCE IN YOUR MOUTH?			ANY FOREIGN SUBSTANCE EXPLAIN: TINY TOBACC	S FOUND? YES O STRANDS STUCKIN TE	ieth
TAR NO	V YES	DNO	REMOVED? YES	NO NO	
Date: 4/26/2020 Time of Mouth Check: 21:45					
I observed the subject from the time of the mouth check					
The subject did not vomit, eat, drink, smoke, or place any	foreign sui	bstance in l	his/her mouth during the ob	servation time.	

The report form required that specific factors be documented. First, the form directs the officer to ask the test taker, "*Do you have any foreign substance in your mouth?*" Deputy Kahns checked the box to indicate "*no*". Next, the deputy is asked if the test-taker's, "*Mouth checked?*" The box is checked "*yes*".

Finally, the form requires that the office indicate if "Any foreign substances found?" The box is checked "yes". A subpart instructs the officer to "Explain" on the line provided. Deputy Kahns elaborated "TINY TOBACCO STRANDS STUCK IN TEETH". Another subpart asks if the substance was "Removed?". The box is checked "no".

Mr. Sliger submitted to the test, which indicated an alcohol level over the legal limit.

The State charged Mr. Sliger with vehicular homicide. Mr. Sliger moved for suppression of the Draeger test results on the basis that the test was improperly performed where Mr. Sliger had a foreign substance in his mouth 15 minutes prior to the test.

After an evidentiary hearing with State witness testimony the trial court orally denied the motion to suppress, but did not enter a written order at that time. CP 79.

Mr. Sliger moved for reconsideration of the oral ruling and for entry of findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 62-77. The trial court then entered an order denying Mr. Sliger's suppression motion and noting that the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and an order would follow. On the same day, the court entered an order denying the motion for reconsideration, again indicating that findings and conclusions would be forthcoming.

Mr. Sliger then filed a notice of discretionary review to protect his right to appeal. A commissioner of this Court held a hearing on this matter and because the findings and conclusions had not yet been presented to the superior court, ruled that the current record in front of the court was insufficient to determine whether discretionary review was warranted. The proceedings were stayed pending the filing findings of fact and conclusions of law and filing of the transcripts of oral proceedings.

The superior court later entered the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (FFCL) Regarding Defendant's Motion to Suppress Draeger Results. CP 90-94. The court found in part:

2. At the scene of the arrest, Mr. Sliger had chewing tobacco in his mouth but removed it at the scene prior to transport to the Stevens County Jail. CP at 90 (emphasis added).

••••

6. Prior to the breath test, Deputy Kahns asked Mr. Sliger if he had any substances in his mouth and Mr. Sliger said "no".

7. Prior to the breath test, Deputy Kahns checked Mr. Sliger's mouth for foreign substances. He noted tiny strands of tobacco between Mr. Sliger's teeth. Tobacco is a foreign substance, but the tobacco strands were not removed.

8. The mouth check consisted of looking into Mr. Sliger's mouth and asking Mr. Sliger to move his cheeks and lips so that Deputy Kahns could look inside Mr. Sliger's mouth

CP at 90-93.

The court concluded in part:

5. WAC 448-16-040 (1) states in relevant part:

A determination as to whether a subject has a foreign substance in his or her mouth will be made by either an examination of the mouth or a denial by the person that he or she has any foreign substances in their mouth. A test mouthpiece is not considered a foreign substance for purposes of RCW 46.61.506.

RCW 46.61.506 (4)(a)(iii) requires the officer administering the breath test to determine whether a subject has a foreign substance in his or her mouth. The WAC provides that the determination may be made by either by an examination of the subject's mouth or by a subject's denial that he or she has any foreign substance in their mouth.

6. The statutory test for admissibility requires strict compliance. Deputy Kahns asked Mr. Sliger if he had any foreign substances in his mouth and received a denial. The State has met the burden of providing prima facie evidence that Mr. Sliger did not have any foreign substances in his mouth at the beginning of the fifteen-minute observation period, based solely on Mr. Sliger's denial that he had any foreign substances in his mouth. Therefore, the Draeger BAC results are admissible at trial.

CP at 93.

The Commissioner granted the motion for discretionary

review and the matter was set for a hearing by a panel.

Following briefing and a hearing on the merits, the panel

filed an unpublished opinion. State v. Sliger, No. 39315-1-III,

2024 WL 3617255 (Aug. 1, 2024); A1-12. The panel

determined:

We conclude that the evidence and the law support a distinction between a lump of chewing tobacco and tiny strands of tobacco for purposes of determining admissibility of a breath test.

APP A10.

In so holding, the panel determined that Mr. Sliger removed the chewing tobacco from his mouth to the extent that it was insufficient to corrupt the results of the Draeger breath

alcohol test. APP A11-12. Mr. Sliger's motion to reconsider was denied. APP B1.

Mr. Sliger now petitions this Court for review of the

Court of Appeals' decision.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), considerations for acceptance

of review before this court include:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

This case is grounded in the interpretation of the statute

to establish prima facie evidence for the admissibility of

Draeger breath alcohol test results. This implicates an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

When interpreting statutes enacted by our legislature, the court determines and gives effect to the legislature's intent. *Jametsky v. Olsen,* 179 Wn.2d 756, 762, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014). It is only when the statute is not clear or otherwise ambiguous, the interpretation of the agency charged with administering the statute is a factor to be used by a court in its interpretation of the meaning of the statute. *Weyerhaeuser Company v.*

Department of Ecology, 86 Wn.2d 310, 315, 545 P.2d 5 (1976).

When interpreting a statute, the court first looks to the plain language of the statute. *Jametsky*, 179 Wn.2d at 762. "When the legislature has expressed its intent in the plain language of a statute, we cannot substitute our judgment for the legislature's judgment." *Protect the Peninsula's Future v. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd.*, 185 Wn. App. 959, 972, 344 P.3d 705 (2015). To assess the meaning of the plain language, the court considers the text of the statutory provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found and related statutes. *Protect the Peninsula's Future*, 185 Wn. App. at 972. If the plain meaning of a statute is unambiguous, the court must apply that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent without considering extrinsic sources. *Jametsky*, 179 Wn.2d at 762. The court will not add language to an unambiguous statute under the guise of interpretation. *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20, 50 P.3d 638 (2002).

The criteria for the admissibility of breath test evidence is set forth in RCW 46.61.506(4)(a). The statute requires that a breath test performed with an instrument approved by the state toxicologist is admissible at trial if the State "produces prima facie evidence" of eight testing requirements. The statutory requirement at issue is:

[t]he person being tested did not have any foreign substances, not to include dental work or piercings, fixed or removable, in his or her mouth at the beginning of the fifteen-minute observation period[.]

RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(iii).

"Prima facie evidence' is evidence of sufficient circumstances that would support a logical and reasonable inference of the facts sought to be proved." RCW 46.61.506(4)(b). In the analysis, the court "is to assume the truth of the prosecution's ... evidence and all reasonable inferences from it in a light most favorable to the prosecution[.]" RCW 46.61.506(4)(b).

At issue is whether the statutory term "any foreign substance" includes the "tiny strands of tobacco" observed by Deputy Kahns. RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(iii); App. at 39.

First, we will examine the statutory term "any". Our courts have already defined this term in the context of this situation. "'Any is defined as '[o]ne or some, regardless of sort, quantity, or number'; '[a]ny quantity or part'; and '[t]o any degree or extent." *Pope Res., LP v. Wash. State Dep't of Natural Res.*, 197 Wn. App. 409, 418, 389 P.3d 699 (2016) (quoting WEBSTER'S II NEW COLLEGE DICTIONARY 51 (1999)). Applying the term to the evidence, "tiny strands" is noted in the plural and were observed with the human eye by the deputy as having a physical, discernable form upon examination by the deputy. These "tiny strands" are is clearly included in the definition, be it one or some strands, without regard to the sort, quantity or size of the strands.

Next, we examine the statutory term "foreign substance." RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(iii). This Court has determined its meaning in the context of interpreting the law relative to foreign substances and a challenge to a former BAC statute in *City of Sunnyside v. Fernandez*, 59 Wn. App. 578, 581-82, 799 P.2d 753 (1990). The *Fernandez* court adopted the dictionary definition of "foreign substance" as meaning "belonging to or proceeding from other persons or things ... not belonging to the place or body where found[.]" *Fernandez*, 59 Wn. App. at 581 (quoting RANDOM HOUSE DICTIONARY 749 (2d ed. 1987)).

In *Fernandez*, the defendant had his own blood in his mouth, which this Court held is not a "foreign substance".

Fernandez, 59 Wn. App. at 582. The court held, "[o]ne's blood does belong to the person or body where it is found." *Fernandez*, 59 Wn. App. at 582. Conversely, it cannot be disputed that tobacco *does not* belong to or proceed from Mr. Sliger's body.

The Court of Appeals determined that the foreign substance at issue must necessarily affect the results of the breath test to defy the prima facie test of admissibility. But that is not what the statute proscribes.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals considered the agency's regulation regarding the manner in which the person administering the test should determine the presence of foreign substance:

A determination as to whether a subject has a foreign substance in his or her mouth will be made by either an examination of the mouth or a denial by the person that he or she has any foreign substances in their mouth.

WAC 448-16-040(1).

The Court of Appeals essentially found, as did the trial court, that the either/or language left the person administering the test to select the result based on whichever discovery method the test administrator deemed appropriate. However, that is not the statutory test that declares that is required for admissibility of the test results.

The prima facie evidence statute granted the administrate agency charged with collecting the sample authority limited to test administrator's credentials:

> Analysis of the person's blood or breath to be considered valid under the provisions of this section ... shall have been performed according to methods approved by the state toxicologist and by an individual possessing a valid permit issued by the state toxicologist for this purpose. The state toxicologist is directed to approve satisfactory techniques or methods, to supervise the examination of individuals to ascertain their qualifications and competence to conduct such analyses, and to issue permits which shall be subject to termination or revocation at the discretion of the state toxicologist.

RCW 46.61.506(3) (emphasis added).

The statute only directly addresses the competence of the person administrating the breath test. While there is some indistinct mention of the methodology regarding the performance of the test itself, it is limited to the determination of the presence of a foreign substance by the test administrator's examination of the mouth or the test-takers denial of the presence of a foreign substance in the mouth. In any event, construing the regulation to permit the presence of a foreign substance to the whims of the test administrator's either/or determination would surely lead to an absurd result, which is not permitted under the rules of interpreting either statute or a regulation. See State v. Engel, 166 Wn.2d 572, 579, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009).

Notably, the statute does not establish what may constitute a foreign substance. Again, that was resolved by *Fernandez*, 59 Wn. App. 578, addressed above.

Moreover, the trial court found and Mr. Sliger did not object to the finding that "[t]obacco is a foreign substance" and the "tobacco strands were not removed." CP at 91. And Deputy Kahns himself identified the tobacco as a foreign substance and that he did not remove it. CP at 35.

Regardless of whether the agency's regulation has any influence on the interpretation of the statute, the statute and the trial court's findings leads to the inevitable result of inadmissibility of the Draeger breath test result.

Regardless of the method employed to determine whether anything is present, its presence cannot be denied once observed and described. The court erred by denying suppression.

F. CONCLUSION

Pursuant to the facts as found by trial court and relevant authority, this Court should accept Mr. Sliger's petition for review.