FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/22/2025 1:49 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103,563-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

JOHN HENRY SLIGER,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

KATELYN E. THOMASON Assistant Attorney General WSBA #44062 / OID #91093 Office of the Attorney General Criminal Justice Division 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-5813

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

V. ARGUMENT

Sliger has not met his burden to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) (see Pet. at 9-10). He asserts in conclusory fashion that because "[t]his case is grounded in interpretation of the statute to establish prima facie evidence for

the admissibility of the Draeger breath alcohol test results" it is an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. Rev. at 9-10. An issue is one of substantial public importance if it is likely to recur and it is desirable to provide an authoritative determination for the future. *State v. Ross*, 152 Wn.2d 220, 229, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004).

Here, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion upholding the trial court's case-specific discretionary finding permitting the admissibility of Sliger's breath test results despite the presence of remnant stands of chewing tobacco. *See State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (decisions to admit evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion and trial courts are given considerable discretion). This does not present an issue of substantial public interest, particularly where the statute, regulation, and case law provide clear guidance for a court to determine whether the State has met its prima facie burden that an alcohol breath test result is sufficiently reliable for a trier of fact to consider as evidence. The trial court and the

Court of Appeals properly followed that guidance here, and review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied Statutory Authority and Affirmed the Trial Court's Admission of the Breath Sample

The admissibility of breath alcohol test results in driving under the influence cases is governed by RCW 46.61.506. Breath test results are admissible at trial if the prosecution produces prima facie evidence of eight criteria. RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(i)-(viii). Only one of these is at issue in this case: whether the State presented prima facie evidence that Sliger did not have "any foreign substances, not to include dental work or piercings, fixed or removable, in his or her mouth at the beginning of the fifteen-minute observation period." RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(iii).

Subsection (3) of the statute expressly provides that breath test measurements "shall have been performed according to methods approved by the state toxicologist and by an individual possessing a valid permit issued by the state toxicologist for this purpose." RCW 46.61.506(3). Consistent with the Legislature's

command, the state toxicologist promulgated regulations prescribing those methods in WAC 448-16-040. Here, the breath test complied with the regulations. Sliger's contention that the test should nonetheless have been deemed inadmissible ignores the plain language of the statute, legislative intent, and case law.

1. To admit breath evidence, the relevant statute requires only prima facie evidence that the subject's mouth was free of foreign substances

Sliger's argument ignores that the plain language of the statute requires only a prima facie showing of evidence to satisfy admissibility requirements. RCW 46.61.506(4)(a). Once this threshold is met, the results are admitted, and a defendant may attack the reliability of the results before the jury. RCW 46.61.506(4)(c). That threshold was met here because the test complied with the methods set forth by the state toxicologist, as required by statute.

Under RCW 46.61.506, breath alcohol evidence is admissible if the State presents "prima facie evidence" of the requisite criteria. RCW 46.61.506(4)(a). The statute defines

"prima facie evidence" as "evidence of sufficient circumstances that would support a logical and reasonable inference of the facts sought to be proved." *Id.* at (4)(b). The trial court "is to assume the truth of the prosecution's...evidence and all reasonable inferences from it in a light most favorable to the prosecution." RCW 46.61.506(4)(b).

Once the foundational threshold is met and the results admitted, a defendant may attack the results by challenging the reliability or validity of the results to a trier of fact. *City of Seattle v. Allison*, 148 Wn.2d 75, 80, 59 P.3d 85 (2002); RCW 46.61.506(c). Thus, the statute strikes a careful balance: once evidence has met certain minimum safeguards that favor admissibility, the probative weight of the measurements—in the context of all the evidence—is left in the hands of the jury.

To this end, the Legislature specifically delegated authority to the state toxicologist to promulgate regulations that ensure accuracy. RCW 46.61.506(3). Subsection (3) of the statute expressly requires that "all [breath analyses] have been performed

according to methods approved by the state toxicologist." *Id*. Those regulations prescribe two possible methods to establish prima facie evidence that a person's mouth is free of foreign substances that could affect the results. WAC 448-16-040.

Specifically, the officer may either 1) ask and receive a denial from the test taker that any foreign substances are present or 2) perform a visual inspection of the test taker's mouth. *Id*. Here, the deputy used both methods. He asked Sliger whether he had any foreign substance in his mouth, which Sliger denied, thereby expressly meeting the requirement of WAC 448-16-040, and satisfying the eighth criterion. RP at 18. The deputy additionally performed a visual inspection of Sliger's mouth where he ensured no foreign object was present that would invalidate the results. RP at 19, 26-27. Thus, both prongs of WAC 448-16-040 were satisfied, even though only one was required. Indeed, Sliger conceded the first prong was met and the conditions satisfied. Sliger, 2024 WL 3617255 at *5. The only issue that remains is whether, but for the deputy also employing the second option and observing scientifically insignificant remnants of removed chewing tobacco, prong one is still satisfied.

Sliger asserts, contrary to legislative intent, his previous concession, and existing case law, that RCW 46.61.506(3) only granted "limited" authority for the state toxicologist with respect to the test administrator's "credentials" or "competence," rendering the methodology of how to interpret "any foreign substance" under RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(iii) irrelevant. Petition at 15; *Sliger*, 2024 WL 3617255 at *5.

However, the law is well settled that the legislature granted authority to the state toxicologist to approve methods for maintaining breath alcohol testing instruments and administering breath alcohol tests. *State v. Peterson*, 100 Wn.2d 788, 789-90, 674 P.2d 1251 (1984); *State v. Keller*, 2 Wn.3d 887, 545 P.3d 790 (2024); RCW 46.61.506(3).

Sliger's argument ignores the first part of RCW 46.61.506(3), which provides that "[a]nalysis of the person's blood or breath to be considered *valid* under the

provisions of this section . . . shall have been performed according to methods approved by the state toxicologist and by an individual possessing a valid permit issued by the state for this purpose." RCW toxicologist 46.61.506(3) (emphasis added). As this Court has observed, "the Legislature has mandated that the analysis of breath or blood is valid if it is performed 'according to methods approved by the state toxicologist'." State v. Ford, 110 Wn.2d 827, 833, 755 P.2d 806 (1988) (quoting RCW 46.61.506(3)); State v. Straka, 116 Wn.2d 859, 870, 810 P.2d 888 (1991) ("When the protocols ... and existing Code provisions are followed, there is sufficient assurance of accuracy and reliability of the test results to allow for general admissibility of test results.")

Because it is undisputed the Deputy followed the state toxicologist's methods as set forth in the WAC, and that Sliger denied any foreign substance in his mouth, the statutory criterion for admissibility was met. As the Court of Appeals properly held,

any challenge to the test's reliability would therefore properly be determined by the trier of fact.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly interpreted "foreign substance" by focusing on the statute's legislative purpose: ensuring the availability of reliable breath alcohol evidence

The Court of Appeals also properly determined that the officer's observation of tiny remnant strands of tobacco did not prevent the trial court from relying on Sliger's denial as prima facie evidence of the absence of a foreign substance. In doing so, the court correctly focused on the legislative purpose of ensuring the availability of reliable breath evidence, while reserving the ultimate determination of their probative value to the jury. Sliger, 2024 WL 3617255 at *2. This conclusion is shared by many sister states who have addressed similar issues and does not warrant review by this Court.

Construction of a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Engel*, 166 Wn.2d 572, 576, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009). In statutory interpretation, the "fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent, and if the statute's

meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (citing State v. J.M., 144 Wn.2d 472, 480, 28 P.3d 720 (2001)).

Plain meaning is determined by "considering the text of the provision in question, the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, amendments to the scheme whole." provision, and the statutory as Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342, 350, 340 P.3d 849 (2015) (citing Campbell & Gwinn, 146 Wn.2d at 9-10). The same "rules of statutory construction apply to administrative rules and regulations, particularly where...they are adopted pursuant to express legislative authority." Dep't of Licensing v. Cannon, 147 Wn.2d 41, 56, 50 P.3d 627 (2002) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Although RCW 46.61.506 uses the term "any," it does not define it. Nevertheless, the statute's legislative intent makes clear that the term "any" refers to any kind of substance which would interfere with the accuracy of the results. *City of Sumyside v. Fernandez*, 59 Wn. App. 578, 582, 799 P.2d 753, 755 (1990). Any other resolution of this term reads the notion of prima facie evidence out of the statute.

Contrary to case law, statutory construction and legislative intent, Sliger asks the Court to define the word "any" as it relates to "foreign substance" in one's mouth to be any substance regardless of whether the substance or quantity of substance could have an impact on the breath test. Petition at 13-14. This reading of the statute would lead to an absurd result.

As Sliger correctly notes, the *Fernandez* court adopted the dictionary definition of a foreign substance as meaning "belonging to or proceeding from the other persons or things... not belonging to the place or body where found." Sliger argues this means that that any object, however slight, would render the

breath test inadmissible despite the test result being accurate and reliable. Petition at 12-14. In so arguing, Sliger ignores the balance of the opinion and legislative intent. Petition at 13; *Fernandez*, 59 Wn. App. at 582.

The Fernandez court, and the Ford court before it, made clear the legislative intent of the statute and regulation in question is whether "a reliable and accurate measure of the subject's alcoholic breath content" is competently obtained "so that a defendant is assured that the test results do in fact reflect a reliable and accurate measure of his or her breath content." Fernandez, 59 Wn. App. at 582; State v. Ford, 110 Wn.2d 827, 833, 755 P.2d 806 (1988). Therefore, the Fernandez court, and the Court of Appeals in this case, appropriately determined that "the term 'foreign substance' should, in light of this purpose, involve substances which adversely affect of results." the accuracy test Fernandez, 59 Wn. App. at 582. This reading is consistent with the statute and with the regulations which set out the methodology for the administration of the breath test. Further, this definition is supported by scientific studies demonstrating that tiny amounts of a foreign object do not impact the reliability and accuracy of breath test results. RP at 49-50.

The Fernandez and Ford courts' reading is also consistent with statutory construction principles, since the plain language of RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(iii), when read in conjunction with RCW 46.61.506(3), shows the legislature specifically identified two types or kinds of foreign substances as examples of foreign substances that do not effect the validity of the breath test results and therefore do not need to be removed for a test to be valid. In subsection three, the Legislature then asked the state toxicologist to promulgate rules, "satisfactory techniques or methods," to administer tests that meet a prima facie threshold of reliability such that a jury may then consider the results when evaluating all of the evidence and subject to any attacks by defense on the reliability of the results through evidence and argument. Specifically, the legislature identified fixed or removable dental

work and piercings, which are both items that do not belong to or proceed from the body of the test taker, do not need to be removed because they have no effect on the validity of the test results. RCW 46.61.506(4)(a)(iii). When read as a whole, the legislative intent is clear that for a breath test analysis to be "valid," and thereby admissible in criminal cases, items that could impact the breath test results must be removed prior to the observation period. If the legislature intended for all foreign substances, seen or unseen, to be removed, it could have drafted the statute to require test administrators to thoroughly clean a test taker's mouth including mechanisms to remove all remnants, seen or unseen, such as brushing, flossing and dental picks. But the statute does not require this level of detail. Moreover, the statute delegates authority to prescribe methodology to the state toxicologist via regulations; in turn, WAC 448-16-040 provides that a determination as to foreign substances can be made by the subject's simple denial, or by the officer's observation. WAC 448-16-040(1). The regulation makes clear that the purpose of the determination is to ensure that objects that could impact the breath test results are removed, so that the test results are accurate and reliable. *See* WAC 448-16-040(2), (3).

Here, the tiny strands of tobacco left in Sliger's mouth after removing the chewing tobacco were not of sufficient quantity to retain mouth alcohol, would not then affect the accuracy of the test results, and therefore are not "foreign substances" that could render the breath test results inadmissible. RP at 49-50. Not only was there undisputed testimony that the remnants would not impact the validity of the breath test results, but also the slope indicator within the Draeger instrument, the safeguard against foreign substances which interfere with breath test results, did not produce an invalid result. CP at 46-47.

This resolution of the issue is consistent with courts of other jurisdictions that have addressed it. See e.g. Pasek v. Commissioner of Public Safety, 383 N.W.2d 1 (1986) (remnants of a pinch of chewing tobacco in driver's mouth did

not affect the validity of the results of the intoxilyzer test); State v. Fudge, 62 Kan.App.2d 587, 518 P.3d 1268 (2022) ("Even if having a foreign matter in a subject's mouth may generally cast doubt on the accuracy of the breathalyzer test results, the court's role here is to determine only whether the State has met the minimal foundational requirements for admissibility," and challenges go to weight); State v. Kemper, 80 Hawai'i 102, 905 P.2d 77 (1995) (possible presence of tobacco lodged in defendant's throat or mouth goes to weight, not admissibility); State v. Ghimire, No. 2024-Ohio-1892, 2024 WL 2005553 (Ohio Ct. App. May 6, 2024)(Appendix A), (although defendant had been chewing and had removed tobacco prior to the test, the test was admissible as substantial compliance only requires that the defendant did not ingest anything that might skew the test result); State v. Heldt, 2009 WL 1684438, Not Reported in N.W.2d (Minn. Ct. App. June 16, 2009) (Appendix B) (tobacco flecks observed yet prima facie showing for admissibility of breath test was met); State v. True,

324 Or. App. 621, 632, 527 P.3d 42, 49 (2023) (citing State v. Goddard, 87 Or. App. 130, 741 P.2d 540 (1987) (holding that a breath test is not invalid because a defendant has bits of chewing tobacco in his mouth).

In short, the Court of Appeals properly upheld the trial court's discretionary ruling that the State met its prima facie burden when the officer received a denial from Sliger that any foreign substance was in his mouth, and when the officer checked Sliger's mouth, saw no foreign object that would have invalidated the test, and sister states review the issue the same. The Court of Appeals opinion does not present an issue of substantial public interest necessitating determination by this Court. Therefore, this petition for review should be denied.

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Sliger's petition for review.